**FILED**  
**Court of Appeals**  
**Division I**  
**State of Washington**  
**7/10/2020 2:08 PM**

**FILED**  
**SUPREME COURT**  
**STATE OF WASHINGTON**  
**7/13/2020**  
**BY SUSAN L. CARLSON**  
**CLERK**

98755-6

**SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

**Edward M. Goodman and Bernice S. Goodman**  
**Respondents,**

**v.**

**Michael Goodman, Petitioner**

---

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

**Michael Goodman**  
**13785 Goodman Lane**  
**Anacortes, WA 98221**

##

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Michael Goodman asks this court to order a new trial.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Affidavit of prejudice against trial Judge Susan Cook.

Affidavit of disqualification against Judge Brian Stiles.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The trial court lacks jurisdiction.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Michael Goodman filed a timely affidavit of prejudice against trial Judge Susan Cook.

There is no discretionary ruling made by Judge Cook prior to the filing of the timely affidavit of prejudice.

Michael did not get a fair trial.

Michael's constitutional right to a fair trial has been violated under the 14<sup>th</sup> amendment to the United States Constitution.

Michael is too prejudiced to explain the merits and the how his subject private property has been "wiped out".

In 2018, Judge Stiles, who did not even hear the bench trial, in this case entered a second Judgment against Michael.



Michael filed pursuant RCW 2.28.030(2) an affidavit of disqualification and motion against Judge Brian Stiles, who was not present and sitting member of the court at the hearing of this matter for trial in March 2011 submitted for its decision, heard none of the testimony of the witnesses, evidence, or arguments of counsel, therefore he moves for his disqualification in this matter at this time.

Judge Stiles lacks jurisdiction to enter Judgments in this case.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Michael's 14<sup>th</sup> amendment to the United States Constitution Right to a fair trial has been violated.

Michael's entire private property was at stake and he filed a timely affidavit of prejudice against Judge Susan Cook.

No discretionary ruling has been made by Judge Cook.

This substantial and valuable right was granted by the Legislature in 1911. RCW 4.12.050. The cases uniformly have held that there is no discretion in granting a timely motion. Timely exercised, the statutory right deprives that particular judge of jurisdiction. *Marine Power & Equip. Co. v Department of Transp.*, 102 Wn. 2D 457, 463, 687 P. 2d 202 (1984). Participating in a completed trial does not negate a timely exercise *State v Cockrell*,

*102 Wn.2d 561, 565, 689 P.2d 32 (1984)*. And when a judge acts without jurisdiction, his or her decisions are void. *State ex rel. Turner v Briggs, 94 Wn.App. 299, 302-03, 971 P.2d 581 (1999)*.

RCW 4.12.040 Disqualification of judge (1) No judge of a superior court of the state of Washington shall sit to hear or try any action or proceeding if that judge has been disqualified pursuant to RCW 4.12.050. Judge Susan Cook was disqualified.

Judge Brian Stiles lacks jurisdiction and is disqualified from this matter.

Pursuant to RCW 2.28.030(2) Judicial officer defined—When disqualified. (2) When he or she was not present and sitting as a member of the court at the hearing of a matter submitted for its decision.

Judge Brian Stiles was not present and sitting member of the court at the hearing of a matter submitted for its decision.

Judge Brian Stiles lacks jurisdiction to enter a subsequent Judgment in this matter, in which he doubled the relief to Plaintiffs, nearly a decade later.

It is well settled Washington law that a successor judge is without power to enter findings of fact on the basis of testimony

heard by his predecessor. *Svarz v. Dunlap*, 149 Wn. 663, 665-66, 271 P.893 (1928).

A purpose behind RCW 2.28.030 is to preclude one judge from rendering a finding of fact based on evidence heard by another trier of fact. *State v. Sims*, 67 Wash.App. 50, 5, 834 P.2d 78(1992). *State v. Olson*, 47 Wash.App. 514, 519, 735 P.2d 1362 (1987).

Under RAP 2.5 errors raised for the first time (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction. Jurisdiction cannot be waived.

#### F. CONCLUSION

Petitioner Michael Goodman request this Honorable Supreme Court to throw this case out for lack of jurisdiction and order a new trial.