FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/7/2020 12:53 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98755-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MICHAEL GOODMAN,

Petitioner,

VS.

EDWARD M. GOODMAN AND BERNICE GOODMAN,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS EDWARD M. GOODMAN AND BERNICE GOODMAN'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Kelly M. Madigan Madigan Law Firm, PLLC Attorney for Respondents, Edward M. Goodman and Bernice Goodman

320 Dayton Street, Suite 220 Edmonds, Washington 98020 (206) 486-0802

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
IV.	V. ARGUMENT	
	A.	The Petition Fails to Meet the Criteria for Review Under RAP 13.4(b)
	B.	The Petition Is Untimely and Beyond the Scope of Review 10
	C.	Review of the Affidavit of Prejudice Against Judge Cook is Barred as it has already been Reviewed by this Court numerous times
	D.	Michael Goodman's Reliance on RCW 2.28.030(2) is Erroneous
	Е.	Motion for Attorney's Fees
V.	C	ONCLUSION16

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON CASES

Buckner, Inc. v. Berkey Irrigation Supply, 89 Wn. App. 906, 951 P.2d 338 (1998)				
Foster v. Giliam, 165 Wn. App. 33, 268 P.3d 945 (2011)				
<i>In re Jaime v. Rhay</i> , 59 Wn.2d 58, 365 P.2d 772 (1961)				
State v. Hudson, 124 Wn.2d 107, 874 P.2d 160 (1994)				
State v. Lindsey, 194 Wn. 129, 77 P.2d 596 (1938)				
Wood v. Postelthwaite, 82 Wn.2d 387, 510 P.2d 1109 (1973)				
<u>STATUTES</u>				
RCW 2.28.030				
RCW 2.28.030(2)				
RULES				
RAP 13.4(b) 1, 4, 8, 9, 10, 16				
RAP 13.5(b)				
RAP 18.1(j)				
RAP 18.9(a)				
RAP 5.2(a)				
RAP 5.3(a)				

APPENDIX

Resp. Appendix A Skagit County Superior Court, Order Denying Affidavit of Prejudice Against Judge Susan K. Cook Resp. Appendix B Washington State Supreme Court, Cause Number 96030-5, Ruling Denying Review, August 24, 2018 Resp. Appendix C Skagit County Press Release, Judge Susan K. Cook to retire, February 11, 2016 Resp. Appendix D Washington State Supreme Court, Cause Number 88811-6, Ruling Denying Review, June 25, 2013 Resp. Appendix E Washington State Supreme Court, Cause Number 90025-6, Order, June 4, 2014 Resp. Appendix F Washington State Supreme Court, Cause Number 90025-6, Ruling Denying Review, July 2, 2015

I. INTRODUCTION

This Court should decline to review the Court of Appeals, Division One's unpublished decision affirming the trial court's order clearing the easement. None of the requisite criteria under RAP 13.4(b) have been established by Michael Goodman. Moreover, the issues raised in the Petition to Review are not the issues/assignment of errors raised by Michael on appeal and decided by the Court of Appeals. Michael Goodman's Petition for Review is simply another frivolous attempt to drag out this long-decided case and to harass Edward and Bernice Goodman.

The underlying litigation was completed in 2011 by bench trial in Skagit County Superior Court. Final orders were entered in January 2012. The trial court found that Edward and Bernice Goodman's property benefited from both an implied easement and an express easement. Following the final orders being entered, Michael Goodman and his family members filed numerous frivolous and meritless appeals. In fact, this is the sixth time Michael Goodman has filed an appeal to the Supreme Court in this matter.

The present appeal involves an attempt by Michael Goodman to argue that Edward and Bernice Goodman's property cannot benefit from both an implied easement and an express easement. This is an argument

that Michael has unsuccessfully argued over and over again on one frivolous appeal after another. On April 13, 2020, the Court of Appeals filed its unanimous Opinion. The Court affirmed the trial court's decision and found that Michael was once again attempting to re-litigate the land dispute that was resolved almost ten (10) years ago. In addition, the Court of Appeals found that Michael's appeal was frivolous pursuant to RAP 18.9(a) and awarded sanctions against Michael.

Petitioner Michael Goodman now seeks review of the Appellate Court's decision. However, Michael is raising issues in this Petition for Review that were not raised by the Petitioner as an assignment of error in the Brief in the Court of Appeals. Specifically, he is asking this Court to review an order denying an Affidavit of Prejudice against the trial judge Susan K. Cook (ret.) and an order denying an Affidavit of Disqualification against Judge Brian Stiles. Those issues were not raised as assignments of error and are not even mentioned in Michael Goodman's Brief to the Court of Appeals. As such, the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals does not address these issues.

The current issues raised by Michael Goodman are not timely pursuant RAP 5.2(a). In addition, because Michael failed to raise these issues in his notice of appeal or as an assignment of error, these issues are beyond the scope of review of this Court. Moreover, Michael Goodman

has failed to establish that Judge Stiles should have been disqualified under RCW 2.28.030(2).

Finally, it is an absolute abuse of the appellate system that Michael, is asking this Court to review the Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook. This is the sixth time Michael has asked this Court to review this issue. This Court has repeatedly declined to review this issue and to continue to request review by this Court is purely harassment.

Michael Goodman's Petition for Review is just another example of his systematic abuse of the appellate system. This Court has characterized Michael's continued litigation of this matter as "vexatious litigation". The sole purpose of Michael Goodman's frivolous appeals has been to force Edward and Bernice Goodman to continue to litigate a case that has been long decided and to make them incur hundreds of thousands of dollars in attorneys' fees and costs. Time and time again, Michael's appeals have been deemed frivolous and Edward and Bernice Goodman have been awarded thousands of dollars in attorneys' fees. However, Michael is not deterred because he continues to not pay the attorneys' fees awards and continues to abuse the appellate system by filing frivolous appeals and motions. This has to stop.

Michael Goodman's Petition for Review must be denied because it does not meet the necessary standard required for review under RAP

13.4(b), lacks any legal merit, and is frivolous. Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), Edward and Bernice Goodman also request an award of reasonable attorneys' fees for having to respond to this frivolous Petition.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Affidavit of Prejudice against trial Judge Susan K. Cook.
- 2. Affidavit of Disqualification against Judge Brian Stiles.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter involves a dispute between brothers Edward Goodman and Michael Goodman over property located at Lake Campbell in Skagit County. CP 71. Edward and Bernice Goodman filed the quiet title suit against Michael and Mary Goodman on March 26, 2010. CP 8-13. On June 1, 2010, Tyson Goodman (Tyson Goodman was a named defendant at the time of filing) filed an Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Susan K. Cook (ret). On June 3, 2010, Judge Cook entered an order denying Tyson Goodman's Affidavit of Prejudice. Resp. Appendix A. Judge Cook denied the affidavit on grounds that she had earlier entered a discretionary ruling in the case, making the motion untimely. *Id*.

¹ Michael Goodman's Petition for Review, Appendix A-1.

The case proceeded to trial on March 28, 2011 in front of Judge Cook. CP 71. The main issues at trial were whether Edward and Bernice Goodman had an easement for the shared driveway and septic system over Lot 2 (Michael's Lot). CP 70-85. Michael Goodman argued at trial that Edward and Bernice Goodman did not need the easement over Lot 2 because they had a different access point to their property, the 20-foot express easement over Lot 4. CP 228-232.

On January 18, 2012, Judge Cook entered Findings of Facts,

Conclusion of Law and Order. CP 70-84. Judge Cook found that Edward
and Bernice Goodman's property benefited from both an implied
easement (over Lot 2 for the benefit of Lot 3) and an express easement
(over Lot 4 for the benefit of Lot 3). CP 76-77. From 2012 until 2018,
Michael Goodman and his family filed numerous appeals of Judge Cook's
order with the Court of Appeals (Cause Nos. 68416-7; 77381-0; 70093-6;
72711-7; 73115-7) and this Court (Cause Nos. 90025-6; 91287-4; 960305; 92835-5; 88811-6). All appeals filed by Michael Goodman and his
family were unsuccessful. Moreover, this Court has characterized Michael
Goodman's continued litigation of this case as "vexatious litigation".
Resp. Appendix B.

Over six and half years after the trial court issued its final judgment and after multiple unsuccessful appeals of that final judgment by

Michael Goodman and his family, Michael decided to disregard the trial court's final judgment by blocking access to the 20-foot express easement to the northern portion of Edward and Bernice Goodman's property. CP 97-103. On July 6, 2018, Edward Goodman discovered that the gate on the common property line between Lots 3 and 4 had been locked with a cable and key padlock by Michael Goodman. CP 135. Later that day the cable and lock were changed out for a locked chain. *Id.* Eventually Michael Goodman also parked a large orange dump truck at the gate blocking access on the easement to Lot 3. CP 136.

Edward and Bernice Goodman were forced to file a motion under the original cause number with the trial court to clear the 20-foot express easement. CP 97-103. By this time, Judge Cook had retired from the bench. Resp. Appendix C. The motion was heard by Judge Brian Stiles. On December 4, 2018, Judge Stiles entered an order enforcing Judge Cook's 2012 final order and ordered Michael Goodman to clear the 20-foot express easement. CP 286-288. In addition, Michael Goodman filed a Motion/Affidavit of Disqualification against Judge Stiles on December 4, 2018.² Michael failed to file this motion in a timely manner and failed to provide counsel for Edward and Bernice Goodman notice of the motion.

² Petition for Review, Appendix A-2.

RP 57-58. Judge Stiles called a short recess to review the motion and authority cited therein. RP 58. Judge Stiles denied the motion³ and stated:

I went back and looked at – I read the statute and then read the case that you cited, Wilson v. Kay. And in that particular case, one judge heard a case, heard all the evidence, and before written findings could be dead – be had or entered in the case, the judge died and another judge stepped in and entered finding in that particular case. I think that's different than this case. Everything in this case has already been determined, I believe, by Judge Cook and her findings. And the motions and arguments we've heard on this matter have been involving those matters and determinations previously already had by Judge Cook.

RP 58-59.

Michael Goodman appealed Judge Stiles December 4, 2018 order clearing the easement. CP 289-292. In the Notice of Appeal, Michael Goodman sought review of:

The defendants seeks review by the designated appellate court of the Judgement entered on December 4, 2018.

Id.

In his Appellate Brief, Michael raised the following assignments of error:

1. The trial court erred in entering the order of December 4, 2018, finding that the parties' original intent was to have two easements to Lot 3 because of the land topography and ordering Michael

³ Petition for Review, Appendix A-3.

Goodman to reopen the express easement across Lot 4;

2. The trial court erred in entering the order of December 4, 2018, finding that the easement across Lot 4 was not extinguished by grant of the implied easement across Lot 2.⁴

Michael Goodman did not include the Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook or the Affidavit of Disqualification against Judge Stiles in the Notice of Appeal or in his assignment of errors. As such, these issues were not before the Court of Appeals in the present appeal.

On April 13, 2020, the Court of Appeals filed a unanimous unpublished opinion.⁵ The Court of Appeals stated that Michael Goodman's contentions had no merit and affirmed the trial court's decision.⁶ Further, the Court of Appeals awarded sanctions under RAP 18.9(a) in that the court found that Michael's appeal was frivolous.⁷

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Petition Fails to Meet the Criteria for Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

Michael Goodman's appeal arises out of an egregious attempt to relitigate property right issues that have long been determined by the trial

⁴Appellant's Opening Brief, pg. 2-3.

⁵ Unpublished Opinion, dated April 13, 2020.

⁶ *Id.* at 1-2.

⁷ *Id.* at 9-10.

court, and upheld by both the Court of Appeals and this Court. The current petition is frivolous and is just another example of Michael's systematic approach to abuse the appellate system in order to harass Edward and Bernice Goodman. Michael Goodman fails to provide authority in support of the Petition, except to argue that the Judge Cook and Judge Stiles should have been disqualified. The considerations governing Supreme Court review are outlined in RAP 13.4(b), which is not even cited by Petitioner. None of the four considerations are applicable to this Petition.

There is no conflict among the Courts of Appeal or with the Supreme Court, the Constitutional issue presented by Petitioner is meritless, and there are no issues of substantial public interest. Michael does raise Constitutional issues, but fails to apply them to the facts in the case or to provide any legal authority to support his argument. Moreover, Michael failed to raise the constitutional issues in the trial court and in his Brief to the Court of Appeals. This Court has held that such tactics will not be tolerated. In *State v. Hudson*, 124 Wn.2d 107, 874 P.2d 160 (1994), the Appellant defendant raised state constitutional issues in a supplemental brief for the first time. In rejecting that issue, the Court stated:

To allow Hudson to engage in a full *Gunwall* analysis so late in the appeal would encourage parties to save their state constitutional claims for

the reply brief and would lead to unbalance and incomplete development of the issues for review. See Wood v. Postlethwaite, 82 Wn.2d 387, 389, 510 P.2d 1109 (1973)(To allow the petition to raise issues not addressed in his petition would be an injustice to the party opposing the petition and inconsistent with the rules on appeal.").

Hudson, 124 Wn.2d at 120.

This Court should reject the untimely and unsupported allegation that Petitioner's constitutional rights were violated by either the trial court or the Court of Appeals.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), Michael Goodman has failed to meet his burden for review by this Court.

B. The Petition Is Untimely and Beyond the Scope of Review.

Michael Goodman's Petition should be denied as it is untimely and this court lacks jurisdiction under RAP 5.2(a). In addition, the Petition is beyond the scope of review for this Court as the issues raised in the Petition were not raised by Michael in the Court of Appeals.

Michael's appeal is untimely and thus barred under RAP 5.2(a). Under RAP 5.2(a), an appellant generally has 30 days from the entry of judgment to file its appeal. RAP 5.2(a). A necessary prerequisite to appellate jurisdiction is the timely filing of the notice of appeal. *Buckner*,

Inc. v. Berkey Irrigation Supply, 89 Wn. App. 906, 911, 951 P.2d 338 (1998).

As stated above, Michael Goodman assigned two errors on appeal. Michael did not assign error to either the Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook or the Affidavit of Disqualification of Judge Stiles. These issues were not before the Court of Appeals when it issued its Unpublished Opinion affirming the trial court's ruling. With regard to the Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook, a request for review by the Court of Appeals of that order would have been required many years ago. With regard to the Affidavit of Disqualification of Judge Stiles, Michael Goodman would have had to file his notice of appeal within 30 days of that order being entered. RAP 5.2(a). Michael failed to timely appeal either the Affidavit of Prejudice or the Affidavit of Disqualification. As such, under RAP 5.2(a), this Court lacks jurisdiction.

Further, the affidavits are beyond the scope of review by this Court because Michael failed to properly note the issues in his notice of appeal

8

⁹ In Michael Goodman's first appeal (Cause No. 68416-7) of trial court's final order, he only assigned error to one of the trial court's 89 numbered findings of fact (assigned error to finding 36 that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that the road was built in 1979).

and to assign error to these issues.¹⁰ CP 289-292. Under RAP 5.3(a), the notice of appeal must designate the decision or part of the decision which the party wants reviewed. RAP 5.3(a); *Foster v. Giliam*, 165 Wn. App. 33, 268 P.3d 945 (2011), *reviewed denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1032, 277 P.3d 668 (2012). Michael has failed to properly appeal the orders denying the Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook and the Affidavit of Disqualification against Judge Stiles.

Michael Goodman's Petition for Review must be denied as it is untimely under RAP 5.2(a) and review is beyond the scope of this Court.

C. Review of the Affidavit of Prejudice Against Judge Cook is Barred as it has already been Reviewed by this Court Numerous Times.

The Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook has long been decided by the Court of Appeals, and review of this issue is prohibited. Michael has brought the issue of the Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook to this Court on five (5) prior occasions (Cause Nos. 88811-6; 90025-6; 91287-4; 96030-5; one case which was never assigned a cause number).

This Court has consistently denied review of this issue.

¹⁰ Appellant's Opening Brief, pg. 2-3.

Michael first sought review of the order denying the Affidavit of Prejudice under Cause No. 888110-6. In denying Michael's Petition for Review, this Court stated:

The Court of Appeals did not err or depart from accepted practice by denying the motion to reverse. RAP 13.5(b)(considerations governing acceptance of review).

Resp. Appendix D.

Michael once again sought review by this Court of the order denying the Affidavit of Prejudice against Judge Cook under Cause Nos. 90025-6 and 91287-4. This Court once again denied review of this issue. Resp. Appendix E; F.

In the most recent (prior to the case at hand) request by Michael for review by this Court of the order denying the Affidavit of Prejudice, this Court (under Cause No. 96030-5) once again denied review. Resp. Appendix B. In addition, this Court described Michael Goodman as a vexatious litigant:

The record in the present matter and the long history of the underlying dispute tend to show that petitioner is a vexatious litigant in relation to the long-final quiet title action.

Id. at 4.

The order denying the Affidavit of Prejudice has long been decided in this matter. Michael Goodman's attempts to continue to litigate this

issue are done so in bad faith and once again review of this issue must be denied.

D. Michael Goodman's Reliance on RCW 2.28.030(2) is Erroneous.

Michael Goodman argues that Judge Stiles did not have jurisdiction to enter the December 4, 2018 order clearing the easement. Despite failing to properly provide notice and assign error to this issue, Michael believes he can circumvent the appellate rules by alleging that Judge Stiles should have been disqualified under RCW 2.28.030(2):

A judicial officer is a person authorized to act as a judge in a court of justice. Such officer shall not act as such in a court of which he is a member in any of the following cases...(2) When he was not present and sitting as a member of the court at the hearing of a matter submitted for decision.

RCW 2.28.030(2).

This argument is meritless.

With regard to the motion to clear the easement, Judge Stiles was the judge at the hearing on these issues and was the judge that issued the order clearing the easement. It appears that Michael is trying argue that Judge Stiles was prohibited from enforcing Judge Cook's 2012 final order because he was not the trial judge. This argument is erroneous. In *State v. Lindsey*, 194 Wn. 129, 77 P.2d 596 (1938), the judge who heard the testimony imposed an improper sentence. On remand, the new sentence

was imposed by a different judge. *Id.* at 131. The Washington Supreme Court held that this was proper and stated that the judicial personnel may change, but the court remains. *Id.* at 132.

In *In re Jaime v. Rhay*, 59 Wn.2d 58, 365 P.2d 772 (1961), one judge imposed probation, and three years later the probation was revoked and a sentence was imposed by a different judge. *Id.* at 61. The Washington Supreme Court held this was not a violation of RCW 2.28.030 and stated:

There is always judicial business unfinished at the end of every judge's tenure of office, whether termination be by expiration, retirement, or death. It is only necessary, under the statute, that the particular matter disposed of by a judge shall have been submitted to him according to law; otherwise, no litigation pending before a judge could be concluded after his separation from office. The statute means no more than that a judge may not pass upon a matter that was never properly submitted to him.

In re Jaime, 59 Wn.2d at 61.

In the present matter, Judge Cook retired in 2016. Resp. Appendix C. Under Michael's flawed reasoning, no judge could enforce the 2012 final judgment after Judge Cook's retirement. In broader terms, Michael's argument would mean that once a judge retires or dies, no subsequent judge can enforce the prior judge's final ruling. Clearly, under *In re Jaime* and public policy, that is not the purpose of RCW 2.28.030(2). The matter of clearing the easement was properly in front of Judge Stiles. Judge

Stiles conducted a hearing and each party submitted briefing. By ordering the easement cleared, Judge Stiles simply enforced the 2012 final judgment. There is no jurisdiction issue to be considered in this matter.

E. Motion for Attorney's Fees.

The final judgment in this case has long been decided. The Petition for Review is just another in a long series of frivolous appeals filed by Michael Goodman. Edward and Bernice Goodman ask this Court to deny the Petition for Review and award reasonable attorneys' fees for this continuing series of appeals filed by Michael Goodman. This request is made pursuant to RAP 18.1(j). It should be noted that in this case, the Court of Appeals has awarded sanctions against Michael Goodman under RAP 18.9(a) for filing a frivolous appeal. This Petition is also a frivolous appeal by Michael Goodman under RAP 18.9(a).

V. CONCLUSION

Edward and Bernice Goodman request that this Court deny
Michael Goodman's Petition for Review. Michael has failed to establish
the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b). In addition, this Petition is
untimely and beyond the scope of review for this Court. Moreover,
Michael's arguments are meritless and this is just another attempt by
Michael to abuse the appellate system in order to harass Edward and

Bernice Goodman. Finally, Edward and Bernice Goodman request attorneys' fees pursuant to RAP 18.1(j).